

The probiotic Bifidobacterium breve strain BBG-01 administered early to preterm infants to prevent infection, necrotising enterocolitis and death

Parent Information Leaflet

PiPS ISRCTN Number: 05511098, REC Ref: 09/H0604/30

Patient Information Leaflet Version 5.1 dated 14Feb2011

Introduction

We understand and appreciate that this is a very difficult time for you and that it may not seem a good moment to be talking about research. However we think it is important that you know about a study that this hospital is taking part in for babies born prematurely.

Short Title: PiPS: Probiotic in Preterm babies Study

Formal Title: The probiotic Bifidobacterium breve strain BBG-01 administered

early to preterm infants to prevent infection, necrotising

enterocolitis and death

Summary

This is a brief description of a research study designed to test whether giving probiotics to premature babies helps to protect them against serious illnesses. You have been given this leaflet because your baby has been, or may be, born 10 or more weeks early and we want to give you the opportunity to think about whether you would like your baby to take part in this study.

Children and adults have many bacteria in their gut that do not cause disease and are important for health. It is possible that if we give similar bacteria (probiotics) by mouth to premature babies soon after birth that other bacteria that can cause illness may be prevented from becoming established in the gut.

The number of babies that have been given probiotics is small; early results of studies are encouraging and probiotics appear to be safe, however we cannot be confident about this until they have been more widely used.

This hospital is one of about 20 helping in a study funded by the NHS through the Health Technology Assessment programme which will involve 1300 very premature babies and give a clear answer about whether probiotics are helpful or not.

The rest of this leaflet explains the study in more detail and describes what being in the study would mean for you and your baby. If, after reading this leaflet and discussing the study with the doctors and nurses in the neonatal unit, you decide to take part we will ask you to sign a consent form. Your baby will then enter the study and will receive either probiotic or an inactive substance that looks the same; this inactive substance is called a placebo. Probiotic or placebo will be continued once a day until shortly before you go home. Neither you nor the staff on the unit will know whether your baby is actually receiving probiotic.

The study does not involve any additional blood tests and should not cause your baby any pain or discomfort. We will collect information about your baby's progress in hospital but we do not currently have any plan to see you again after you have gone home.

Whether or not you decide to let your baby take part is entirely up to you. If you decide not to take part this will not affect the high standard of care your baby receives.

What problem are we trying to help?

Babies born as early as yours are at increased risk of infections and of other complications of prematurity; one of the most important of these is the illness necrotising enterocolitis that affects the gut. Usually these infections can be successfully treated with antibiotics but such illnesses often prolong a baby's stay in hospital and may increase the likelihood of life-long health problems. Occasionally they are so serious that the baby may need surgery or may even die.

There are a number of different ways in which the body protects us against infection; one of the most important is through the millions of bacteria that live in our gut. These are not germs that cause disease but are helpful bacteria that are essential for good health. Babies who are born at the expected time rapidly gain these bacteria from their mother and other members of the family. Babies born early have to be separated from their family and have few of these helpful bacteria; instead they are likely to have many other bacteria in their gut. Usually these other bacteria do not cause problems but they may cause infections that can be difficult to treat and be involved in the development of serious complications such as necrotising enterocolitis. They may also make it more difficult to digest milk which is very important for your baby's long term health.

It is possible that giving probiotics soon after birth will make the bacteria living in the gut of premature babies more like those of full-term babies and decrease the risk of them getting serious infections and necrotising enterocolitis.

What are probiotics and how much do we know about their use in newborn premature babies?

Probiotics are live micro-organisms, usually bacteria, that are taken by mouth and then multiply and live in the gut. There are lots of different probiotic bacteria, many of them have names beginning with Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium and are contained in live yoghurt and a range of freely available health products.

There have been a number of studies giving probiotics to premature babies. The results suggest that giving probiotic might help babies to digest milk and to grow better. It may also reduce the number of episodes of necrotising enterocolitis and increase survival; the effect upon episodes of bloodstream infection is unclear. However the studies have all been small and none so far has been in the UK. In order to be clear whether or not probiotics are helpful and to be confident of their safety they need to be studied more widely.

Some studies have used just one type of probiotic and others have used mixtures. This study will use a single probiotic called Bifidobacterium breve strain BBG-01 (BBG). For the rest of this leaflet when we talk about probiotic this is the one we mean. The same probiotic has been given routinely to many thousands of newborn babies in Japan.

All of the earlier studies have mixed the probiotic in the baby's milk feeds; this has meant that babies who the doctors decide should not be fed have not been included in the studies. We think it is probably important, if probiotics are to be helpful, that they are given early, before other bacteria that may cause disease become established in the gut. In this study we plan to start probiotics early whether or not milk feeds have been started.

What is the purpose of the study?

The purpose of this study is to find out whether giving BBG to babies born 10 or more weeks early, reduces episodes of blood stream infection and necrotising enterocolitis. We will also study whether there is increased survival and whether babies are likely to leave hospital sooner if they receive probiotic.

Why has my baby been chosen?

All newborn babies are at some risk of infection and of necrotising enterocolitis but this risk is much greater in very premature babies, we are therefore inviting parents of babies born 10 or more weeks early to take part in this study.

This hospital is one of about 20 in England involved with this study. We are aiming to include 1300 babies; we need this number to be confident of finding out whether probiotics are helpful or not.

Does my baby have to take part?

You do not have to agree to your baby taking part in this study. If you decide not to take part it will not affect in any way the quality of care you and your baby receive. Similarly if you decide that you would like your baby to take part and then change your mind your baby can be taken out of the study at any time without you having to give a reason.

What will happen to my baby if I agree to take part?

Because we are studying the effect of giving probiotic early we are asking you to make your initial decision about whether your baby should take part within 48 hours of birth. We realise that this may put you under increased stress and apologise for this; we would not do this if we didn't believe it was important. We will discuss the study with you again during the course of your baby's stay in hospital to make sure that you understand what is happening and that you continue to agree to your baby taking part. There will always be someone available with whom you can discuss the study, sometimes this will be by phone.

If you agree that you would like your baby to take part in this study, your baby will be put into one of two groups; one group will receive probiotic and the other will receive a dummy product that looks the same, this dummy product is called a placebo. Your baby will have a 50/50 chance of being put into either of these groups. The allocation of your baby to a group will rely on chance (rather like tossing a coin). Neither you nor the staff caring for your baby will know which group your baby is in. This is the only way we can be sure that we test probiotic fairly. The first dose of probiotic or placebo will be given as soon as is practicable for the ward staff after you have signed the consent form; this may not be until the following morning.

The probiotic and the placebo are supplied to us as granules which we mix with fluid, we then put a few drops down the baby's feeding tube. We will do this once each day until your baby reaches 36 weeks of gestation (36 + 0 days). Because it is important that nobody knows which product your baby is receiving we mix both probiotic and placebo with a very dilute preparation of a special infant formula called Neocate so that they still look the same. Neocate is an infant formula that is very easy to digest

and is made especially for babies with gut problems; it is not made from cow's milk. For this study Neocate is being used at 1/8 of full strength. This does not provide any significant nutrition for your baby and is so dilute that it cannot pose any risk to the gut even in those babies that the doctors decide should not be fed. This will in no way reduce your chances later of successfully breast feeding your baby.

If your baby is unwell the doctor in charge locally will decide whether or not doses are missed out.

If your baby is discharged home earlier than 36 weeks the probiotic or placebo will be stopped a few days before. If your baby is transferred to a different hospital before 36 weeks we will aim to continue to give the product; if the new hospital is not already involved in the study we will provide training to the staff to enable this to happen.

If your baby sucks well and is able to have the feeding tube removed earlier than 36 weeks the probiotic or placebo will be given directly into the mouth with a syringe once a day before a feed.

Two weeks after birth and again at 36 weeks (if your baby is still in hospital) we will collect a sample of your baby's stool. These samples will be sent to the microbiology laboratory at Barts and the London Hospital, London E1 where they will be tested to check whether or not your baby has been successfully colonised with probiotic and what other bacteria have colonised the gut.

If you agree the remaining stool sample will then be deep frozen and stored for later testing in a related study for which we have not yet secured funding. The additional tests are designed to help us understand the effects of probiotics.

No extra blood tests or injections are necessary and all other aspects of your baby's care will be entirely at the discretion of the local doctors and nurses.

Unless there is a specific medical reason why not, it is hoped that mothers of babies in the study will provide breast milk for their babies since human breast milk promotes the growth of BBG.

What are the possible side effects of the treatment?

In general probiotics are thought to be a very safe treatment. There have been occasional reports of probiotics themselves causing infection; this is extremely unusual and particularly so with the probiotic being used for this study. In the very unlikely event that this should happen the infection would be treated with an antibiotic like penicillin. All babies in the study will be monitored very closely throughout the study by the staff on the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit.

What information will be collected about me and my baby?

We will need to collect standard clinical information about your pregnancy, the condition of your baby at birth and progress throughout the hospital stay. This information will be collected from the baby's written and electronic case record. The study will not involve you in any interviews or questionnaires. In order to get accurate

results from all samples taken by the medical staff to check for infection, we will contact the hospital microbiology laboratory directly since the detail needed for the study is not always available in the case notes.

After your baby has completed the study, records maintained by the NHS Information Centre and NHS Central Register maybe used to help us contact you in future and to provide information about your baby's health status.

What are the possible disadvantages of taking part?

We believe that this intervention is safe and that there are no disadvantages for you in taking part in this study whichever group your baby is in.

We will need to collect information about you and your baby.

What if new information becomes available?

There is currently a lot of interest in the use of probiotics for premature babies and other studies in other countries using slightly different probiotics are underway. We will be monitoring any results emerging from these studies closely and will inform you if any important new information becomes available during the course of the study that might make you change your mind about your baby's involvement.

What if something goes wrong?

The chance of anything going wrong as a result of taking part in this study is very small. However we are required to tell you the following:

If your baby is harmed and this is due to someone's negligence, then you may have grounds for legal action for compensation against Queen Mary, University of London in respect of any harm arising out of the participation in the Clinical Trial or the NHS in respect of any harm which has resulted from the clinical procedure being undertaken.

Will my taking part in this study be kept confidential?

Your GP will be told that you took part in the study.

Your details and the information collected for the study will be kept securely and will only be seen by the study organisers and people from the regulatory authorities whose job is to ensure that studies such as this are carried out safely. They may also need to look at your baby's notes to check that the information collected for the study is correct. Information about you or your baby will not be used for any purpose other than to answer these research questions.

Although we currently have no plans to collect any further information about your baby after discharge from hospital we will retain your contact details in case anything emerges from this or any other study of probiotics that makes it important that we contact you again. The NHS has a central register (based at the General Register Office) that would be able to tell us if you have left the NHS and through which we would be able to locate you.

What will happen to the results of the research?

At the end of the study the results will be analysed and published in an international journal. We will send you a copy of the final results of the study. A copy of the full journal article can be requested from the National Perinatal Epidemiology Unit. You and your baby will not be identified in any report or publication arising from the study.

Who is organising and funding the research?

The study is being run jointly by Barts and the London School of Medicine at Queen Mary, University of London and by the National Perinatal Epidemiology Unit, University of Oxford.

The study is funded by the NHS through the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Health Technology Assessment (HTA) programme.

Who has reviewed the study?

All research that involves NHS patients or staff, information from NHS records or uses NHS premises or facilities must be approved by a NHS Research Ethics Committee before it goes ahead. Approval cannot guarantee that you will not come to any harm if you take part. However approval does mean that the Committee is satisfied that your rights will be respected, that the risks have been reduced to a minimum and that balanced against the possible benefits it is reasonable for babies born as early as yours to take part. The committee has also checked that we are giving you sufficient information to make an informed decision about taking part.

Thank you for reading this leaflet. The doctor or nurse who gave it to you will be pleased to discuss it with you and to provide further information if that would be helpful. Alternatively the contact details of the study's Principal Investigator in your NHS hospital and the Study Co-ordinator are provided below.

What if I have any concerns?

If at any stage you have any concern or query about this study or the way it has been carried out, you should contact the Principal Investigator (the name and contact details are below), or you may contact the hospital complaints department.

Information is also available on the study website at: www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/pips

If you would like to contact an independent organisation to discuss the inclusion of babies in research studies without reference to this particular study we suggest that you contact the premature baby charity Bliss. Their address is:

Bliss, 9 Holyrood Street, London SE1 2EL

Freephone Family Support Helpline: 0500 618 040

Website: www.bliss.org.uk



Doctors contact details here

Nurses contact details here

Name and contact details of Study Co-ordinator:

Paul Heal (PiPS Trial Co-ordinator)

National Perinatal Epidemiology Unit, Clinical Trials Unit University of Oxford XXXX

Tel: XXXX





